
AGENDA 
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING 

G.L. Gilleland Council Chambers on 2nd Floor
Monday, August 7, 2023 

5:00 P.M. 

Page 1 of 1 

1. Call to Order
2. Roll Call
3. Invocation and Pledge
4. Announcements
5. Approval of the Agenda
6. Public Input
7. Consent Agenda

a. Approve Minutes
• Regular Meeting and Work Session held July 17, 2023
• Executive Session held July 17, 2023

b. Approve Agreement to Dismiss and Release Claims (Opioid Litigation)
c. Approve Contract for Medical, Dental, Term Life, Supplemental Insurance and Section 125 

Broker
d. Approve Amended Bid for Construction of Basketball Court
e. Approve JLC Room Rental Fee Waiver for the Kiwanis Club of Dawson County

8. Award Announcement: Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting for FY 2022
9. Proclamation: National Health Center Week, August 6 -12, 2023

BUSINESS 

10. Millage Rate for Tax Year 2023
11. An Ordinance To Amend The Alcoholic Beverage Ordinances Of The City Of Dawsonville, Georgia;

To Provide For An Effective Date, And For Other Purposes (First Reading: August 7, 2023; Second
Reading and Consideration to Adopt: August 21, 2023)

12. Amendment to IGA for Law Enforcement to Increase Compensation
13. Items Laid on Table Indefinitely

  EXECUTIVE SESSION, IF NEEDED   
  RESERVED FOR POTENTIAL ACTION ON EXECUTIVE SESSION ITEMS, IF NEEDED 
  ADJOURNMENT 

The next scheduled City Council meeting is Monday, August 21, 2023 

Those persons with disabilities who require reasonable accommodations in order to allow them to observe and/or 
participate in this meeting or who have questions regarding the accessibility of the meeting, should contact the Clerk at 
Dawsonville City Hall at 706-265-3256 at least two (2) business days prior to the meeting. 



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:                    CONSENT AGENDA           

   
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  08/07/2023    
   
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 

 
   CONSIDERATION AND APPROVAL OF ITEMS BELOW; SEE ATTACHED 

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS  
 

a. Approve Minutes  
• Regular Meeting and Work Session held July 17, 2023 
• Executive Session held July 17, 2023 

b. Approve Agreement to Dismiss and Release Claims (Opioid 
Litigation) 

c. Approve Contract for Medical, Dental, Term Life, Supplemental 
Insurance and Section 125 Broker 

d. Approve Amended Bid for Construction of Basketball Court 
e. Approve JLC Room Rental Fee Waiver for the Kiwanis Club of 

Dawson County  
 

 

 
 
 

 
 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #       7     
 



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:                       APPROVE MINUTES    

 
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  08/07/2023   
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #  NA      

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 
     TO APPROVE THE MINUTES FROM: 

 
• REGULAR MEETING AND WORK SESSION HELD JULY 17, 2023 
• EXECUTIVE SESSION HELD JULY 17, 2023 

 
 

 
 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 

 
 
     
 
 

     OPTIONS: 
           
  AMEND OR APPROVE AS PRESENTED 
 
 
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
     REQUESTED BY:  Beverly Banister, City Clerk    

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

 AGENDA ITEM #   7a      
 

 

 



MINUTES 
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AND WORK SESSION 

G.L. Gilleland Council Chambers on 2nd Floor 
Monday, July 17, 2023 

5:00 P.M. 
   

Page 1 of 4 
 

 

1. CALL TO ORDER:  Mayor Eason called the meeting to order at 5:00 pm. 
 

2. ROLL CALL: Present were Councilmember Mark French, Councilmember Caleb Phillips, 
Councilmember John Walden, Councilmember William Illg, City Attorney Kevin Tallant, City Manager 
Bob Bolz, City Clerk Beverly Banister, Public Works Director Trampas Hansard, Utility Director Jacob 
Barr, Planning Director Jameson Kinley, Finance Administrator Robin Gazaway and Director of 
Downtown Development Amanda Edmondson.   

 

3. INVOCATION AND PLEDGE:  Invocation and pledge were led by Councilmember Phillips.   
 

4. ANNOUNCEMENTS:  Mayor Eason announced the Public Hearing to be held by the City Council for 
the Atlanta Motorsports Park has been moved to August 21, 2023 since the process had to be 
restarted due to their newest request to amend their site plan.  The Farmer’s Market is now open on 
Wednesdays at 3:00 pm in addition to Saturdays from 8:00 am until 1:00 pm or until sold out.  The 
City is holding a Food Drive for the barrels located in front of City Hall.  The City’s Comprehensive 
Plan will hold its final public meeting on August 10, 2023 at 5:30 pm at City Hall; he encouraged the 
public to attend.     

5. APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA:  Motion to approve the agenda as presented made by M. French; 
second by W. Illg.  Vote carried unanimously in favor.  

 

6. PUBLIC INPUT:  No participation by the public.   
 

7. CONSENT AGENDA:  Motion to approve the consent agenda for the following items (a,b) made by 
J. Walden; second by C. Phillips.  Vote carried unanimously in favor. 

a. Approve Minutes  
• Regular Meeting held June 5, 2023 
• Executive Session held June 5, 2023 
• Special Called Meeting held June 28, 2023 

b. Approve Amendment One to Service Agreement with SAFEbuilt 
 

8. 2023 GEORGIA RACING HALL OF FAME INDUCTEES:  Mayor Eason read a proclamation 
honoring the 2023 Class of the Georgia Racing Hall of Fame Inductees who will be honored at the 
Induction Ceremony to be held on August 5, 2023.  Those selected this year are Ed Clark, Harold 
“Speedy” Evans, Bob Leach, Gordon Pirkle and Hence Pollard.   
 

9. PRESENTATION OF HISTORIC COURTHOUSE PRINT:    City Manager Bolz reported the print of 
the 1870 Historic Courthouse was donated by the family of Leon Martin .  Mr. Martin served as the 
Senior Magistrate Judge in Dawson County for a number of years and had the photo hung in his 
home office.  The photo will be hung in the City Hall lobby.  

 

10. EMPLOYEE RECOGNITION:  City Manager Bolz introduced the City’s newest employee, Hayden 
Harris; Clay Moss was recognized for receiving his certification for Wastewater Collection System 
Operator; David Schuette (not present at the meeting) was recognized for his two year service award; 
Amanda Edmondson received the May 2023 Employee of the Month award; Hunter Simmons 
received the June 2023 Employee of the Month Award; Clay Moss and Stacy Harris received the 
Spring Employee of the Quarter award.  

    BUSINESS 
 

11. A FAMILY FAIR EVENT BY FAMILY CONNECTION: REQUEST FOR ROAD CLOSURE AND FEE 
WAIVER:   Rebecca Bliss from Family Connection presented the details and overall goal of the event.   
 

Motion to approve the road closure of Main Street through Main Street Park on August 11, 2023 from 
5:00 pm – 11:00 pm and to waive the fees for the permit and the pavilion rentals made by M. French; 
second by J. Walden.  Vote carried unanimously in favor.  
 

12. MAIN STREET PAWN BROKER LICENSE FEE REDUCTION REQUEST:   Planning Director Kinley 
presented the request made from the owner of Main Street Pawn who is asking for a waiver or 
reduction of her broker license fee.  Erika Smith, the owner of Main Street Pawn, addressed the City 



MINUTES 
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AND WORK SESSION 

G.L. Gilleland Council Chambers on 2nd Floor 
Monday, July 17, 2023 

5:00 P.M. 
   

Page 2 of 4 
 

Council and explained her current situation and reasons for requesting the waiver.  Councilmember 
Walden asked about the history of waivers from the last two years; Planning Director Kinley reported 
the City Council approved a fifty-percent reduction for both years.   
 

Motion to deny the request to waive or reduce the broker license fee for Main Street Pawn made by 
J. Walden; second by W. Illg.  Vote carried unanimously in favor.  

 

13. ORDINANCE NO. 02-2023:  AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE ZONING ORDINANCE OF THE 
CITY OF DAWSONVILLE, GEORGIA, TO COMPLY WITH RECENT AMENDMENTS TO THE 
ZONING PROCEDURES ACT, O.C.G.A. § 36-6-1 ET SEQ.; AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES 
(PUBLIC HEARING AND FIRST READING: JUNE 5, 2023; SECOND READING AND 
CONSIDERATION TO ADOPT: JULY 17, 2023) Attorney Tallant read the second reading of 
Ordinance No. 02-2023 to amend the zoning ordinance.   
 

Motion to approve Ordinance No. 02-2023 as presented made by C. Phillips; second by J. Walden.  
Vote carried unanimously in favor.  (Exhibit “A”) 
 

14. ORDINANCE NO. 03-2023: AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE CHARTER OF THE CITY OF 
DAWSONVILLE FOR THE PURPOSE OF APPROVING A CLARIFIED REAPPORTIONMENT MAP 
AND TO ADDRESS COMPENSATION OF THE GOVERNING AUTHORITY (FIRST READING AND 
ADOPTION: JUNE 5, 2023; SECOND READING AND FINAL ADOPTION: JULY 17, 2023):  
Attorney Tallant read the second reading of ordinance No. 03-3023 to amend the City Charter. 

 

Motion to approve the second adoption of Ordinance No. 03-2023 made by W. Illg; second by M. 
French.  Vote carried unanimously in favor. (Exhibit “B”) 

 

15. ORDINANCE NO. 04-2023: AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE DOMESTIC ANIMAL CONTROL 
ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF DAWSONVILLE, GEORGIA; TO PROVIDE FOR AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE; AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES (FIRST READING: JUNE 5, 2023; SECOND READING AND 
CONSIDERATION TO ADOPT: JULY 17, 2023):  Attorney Tallant read the second reading of 
Ordinance No. 04-2023 to amend the animal control ordinance. 
 

Motion to approve Ordinance No. 04-2023 made by J. Walden; second by C. Phillips.  Vote carried 
unanimously in favor. (Exhibit “C”) 
 

16. ORDINANCE NO. 05-2023:  AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE HEALTH AND SANITATION 
ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF DAWSONVILLE, GEORGIA; TO PROVIDE FOR AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE; AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES  (FIRST READING: JUNE 5, 2023; SECOND READING 
AND CONSIDERATION TO ADOPT: JULY 17, 2023):  Attorney Tallant read the second reading of 
Ordinance No. 05-2023 to amend the health and sanitation ordinance. 
 

Motion to approve Ordinance No. 05-2023 made by W. Illg; second by C. Phillips.  Vote carried 
unanimously in favor. (Exhibit “D”) 
 

17. ORDINANCE NO. 06-2023:  AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE UTILITIES ORDINANCE OF THE 
CITY OF DAWSONVILLE, GEORGIA; TO PROVIDE FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE; AND FOR 
OTHER PURPOSES (FIRST READING: JUNE 5, 2023; SECOND READING AND 
CONSIDERATION TO ADOPT: JULY 17, 2023):  Attorney Tallant read the second reading of 
Ordinance No. 06-2023 to amend the utilities ordinance. 
 

Motion to approve Ordinance No. 06-2023 made by J. Walden; second by M. French.  Vote carried 
unanimously in favor. (Exhibit “E”) 
 

18. EMPLOYEE PERSONNEL POLICY:  Motion to adopt the amendments made to the employee 
personnel policy made by M. French; second by C. Phillips.  Vote carried unanimously in favor.   

 

19. IMPACT FEE COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION:  Planning Director Kinley provided a brief 
overview of the requirements for the committee stating there needs to be a minimum of five persons 
but not more than ten; and fifty percent of the committee must be persons involved with the 
development community.  

 



MINUTES 
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AND WORK SESSION 

G.L. Gilleland Council Chambers on 2nd Floor 
Monday, July 17, 2023 

5:00 P.M. 
   

Page 3 of 4 
 

Motion to approve a total of five members for the committee to be chosen from the recommended 
persons (two from the non-development community and three from the development community) as 
submitted who include Alexis Noggle, Calvin Byrd, Jeremy Porter and Marc Banister from the non-
development community and Mike Turner, Corey Guthrie, Bryan Young, Steve Eiberger and Allen 
Freisem from the development community made by W. Illg; second by J. Walden.  Councilmember 
French thanked the staff for developing the list of recommendations.  He further stated, although with 
no reflection on their character, he does take issue with two people.  One being Marc Banister, the 
spouse of the City Clerk; his concern is public perception and secondly, Mike Turner, due to his 
perceived objection to impact fees with the concern being his assumed inability to be objective.   
Attorney Tallant stated, regarding Marc Banister, that a legal conflict issue would only exist if he or 
she were in either chain of command to each other but understood the public perception issue raised.  
Vote carried unanimously in favor.   

 

20. HISTORIC RESOURCE SURVEY GRANT AWARD:  Motion to approve the Historic Preservation 
Fund Grant in the amount of $6,000 with a fifty percent match requirement by the City made by W. 
Illg; second by M. French.  Vote carried unanimously in favor.  

 

21. T-MOBILE HOMETOWN GRANT:  Downtown Development Director Edmondson reported on the 
grant application submitted for the T-Mobile Hometown Grant in the amount of $47,627.13 for the 
implementation of a project to combine community oral histories and public art intending to serve City 
goals to preserve history, cultural heritage and engage the public to enhance sense of place.   

 

Motion to approve the grant application made by J. Walden; second by W. Illg.  Vote carried 
unanimously in favor.    
 

   STAFF REPORTS 
 

22. BOB BOLZ, CITY MANAGER:  He reported there were no leak adjustments for the fourth 
consecutive month.  Councilmember Illg requested clarification on whether or not the skatepark is 
being eliminated since pickleball and basketball courts are being constructed in the same vicinity.  
Bolz reported that the intention will be to move the skatepark to the grass area in the loop near the 
assisted living and transform the existing pad where the skatepark is currently located into a small 
bathroom and pavilion. 
 

23. ROBIN GAZAWAY, FINANCE ADMINISTRATOR:  Finance Administrator Gazaway presented the 
financial reports representing fund balances and activity through May 31, 2023.       

   EXECUTIVE SESSION 
 

At 5:33 p.m. a motion to close regular session and go into executive session for land acquisition and 
litigation made by J. Walden; second by W. Illg.  Vote carried unanimously in favor.  
 

At 5:41 p.m. a motion to close executive session was made by C. Phillips; second by J. Walden.  Vote 
carried unanimously in favor. 
 

Motion to resume regular session was made by M. French; second by W. Illg.  Vote carried 
unanimously in favor.   

ACTION ON EXECUTIVE SESSION ITEMS 
 

A. LAND ACQUISITION:  City Manager Bolz reported on the piece of property the City would like to 
acquire for the purpose of building a future water tower site.   
 

Motion to approve the purchase of 55 Hwy 9 North in the amount of $216,000 to be paid out of the 
Enterprise Fund made by J. Walden; second by W. Illg.  Vote carried unanimously in favor.   
 

B. LITIGATION:  City Attorney Tallant reported on the agreement signed by Etowah Water and 
Sewer Authority (EWSA) and presented to Council this evening for adoption.  He stated the 
agreement will end the litigation, clarify service boundaries and define working cooperatively to 
provide services to both City and County residents.   
 



MINUTES 
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AND WORK SESSION 

G.L. Gilleland Council Chambers on 2nd Floor 
Monday, July 17, 2023 

5:00 P.M. 
   

Page 4 of 4 
 

Motion to approve the Intergovernmental Agreement with Etowah Water and Sewer Authority made 
by C. Phillips; second by M. French.  Vote carried unanimously in favor. (Exhibit “F”) 

 

    ADJOURNMENT: 
 

At 5:45 p.m. a motion to adjourn the meeting was made by J. Walden; second by W. Illg.  Vote carried 
unanimously in favor.  

 

 
 Approved this 7th day of August 2023 

 
By: CITY OF DAWSONVILLE 

         
   ___________________________________ 
   Mike Eason, Mayor 
 
   ___________________________________  
   Caleb Phillips, Councilmember Post 1 

 
         
   William Illg, Councilmember Post 2  

 
         
   John Walden, Councilmember Post 3 
 
   ___________________________________ 
   Mark French, Councilmember Post 4 
 
 
 
 
Attest: _________________________        
           Beverly A. Banister, City Clerk 
 
  





Exhibit "A"





















Exhibit "B"









Exhibit "C"



Exhibit "D"











Exhibit "E"







Exhibit "F"















Exhibit "A"



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:  APPROVE AGREEMENT TO DISMISS AND RELEASE CLAIMS 

 
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  08/07/2023   
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #        

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 

    
TO REQUEST APPROVAL FOR THE AGREEMENT TO DISMISS AND RELEASE CLAIMS AGAIN 

PUBLIX IN THE OPIOID LITIGATION SUIT 
    
 
 

 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 

• CITY APPROVED A RESOLUTION AGREEING TO SETTLE WITH PUBLIX ON 04/17/2023; 
AGREEMENT IS THE FOLLOW UP PIECE TO THE RESOLUTION 

 

   
 

     OPTIONS: 
 
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
   
RECOMMEND APPROVING BY CITY ATTORNEY 
 
 

 
 

     REQUESTED BY: Kevin Tallant, City Attorney 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #   7b     
 

 

 



 

PAGE 1 OF 14 
 

CONFIDENTIAL AGREEMENT TO DISMISS AND RELEASE CLAIMS 

This Confidential Agreement to Dismiss and Release Claims (the “Agreement”) is 
entered into by and between: 

(1) Publix Super Markets, Inc. (“Publix”), on the one hand; and  

(2) each of Carroll County, Catoosa County, Chattooga County, Colquitt County, Floyd 
County, Gordon County, Murray County, Telfair County, Whitfield County, City of Ashburn, 
City of Calhoun, City of Carrollton, City of Cartersville, City of Chatsworth, City of 
Dawsonville, City of Helen, City of Jackson, City of Marietta, City of McDonough, City of 
Moultrie, City of Ringgold, City of Rome, City of Snellville, City of Valdosta, City of Villa 
Rica, City of Winder, and City of Woodstock (collectively, the “Local Governments”), on the 
other hand.   

Publix and each of the Local Governments are referred to in this Agreement as a “Party” 
and collectively as the “Parties.” 

A. Recitals 

1. On March 2, 2018, some of the Local Governments filed an action against Purdue 
Pharma L.P. (and others) in the United States District Court for the Northern District of Georgia 
(City of Rome, et al. v. Purdue Pharma, L.P., et al., Case No. 4:18-CV-0052), which was later 
transferred to the United States District Court for the Northern District of Ohio (Case No. 1:18-
op-45282-DAP), asserting various causes of action, including claims arising from and relating to 
the manufacturing, marketing, advertising, distribution, selling, and dispensing of opioid 
medications, including the filling of prescriptions for opioid medications (the “Lawsuit”).  The 
Lawsuit was later amended to include all of the Local Governments as plaintiffs and Publix as 
one of the many defendants. 

2. Among others, the Lawsuit asserts a claim for public nuisance brought on behalf 
of the Local Governments’ citizens and based on Publix’s alleged acts or omissions both within 
and outside of the territorial jurisdictions of the Local Governments (the “Publix Nuisance 
Claim”). 

3. Publix (i) denies any wrongdoing relating to the allegations and claims 
concerning it in the Lawsuit and (ii) maintains that it would be able to successfully defend 
against such allegations and claims at trial, that the facts do not support the allegations, that it has 
not engaged in any misconduct or unlawful activity, and that it has not caused any harm to the 
Local Governments or their residents. 

4. To avoid the expense and uncertainty of litigation, including the interruptions 
caused by such potential protracted litigation, the Local Governments and Publix have engaged 
in efforts to resolve the Lawsuit as it concerns Publix. 

5. On March 8, 2023, the Parties reached a resolution in principle and now enter into 
this Agreement, which memorializes in writing the terms on which such resolution was reached. 



 

PAGE 2 OF 14 
 

6. This Agreement will take effect upon the date of the last Party’s signature hereto 
(the “Effective Date”), except that Section B(4) and B(20) apply to each Local Government from 
and after the time that the Local Government approves entering into this Agreement. 

7. By entering into this Agreement, Publix denies any liability or wrongdoing on its 
part and nothing herein may be taken as or construed to be an admission or concession of any 
violation of law, rule, or regulation, or of any other matter of fact or law, or of any liability or 
wrongdoing. 

B. Agreement 

In consideration of the promises, representations, warranties, covenants, and agreements 
set forth in this Agreement, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and 
sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties, by their respective authorized 
representatives, covenant and agree as follows: 

1. Release & Covenant Not to Sue.  Upon delivery of the Community Contribution 
Funds as provided in Section B(3), the Local Governments (including their respective 
departments, agencies, divisions, commissions, districts, fire districts, irrigation districts, water 
districts, law enforcement districts, emergency service districts, special districts, boards, 
instrumentalities of any kind, attorneys, and officers) forever release and discharge the “Publix 
Released Parties” for and from the Released Matters. The “Publix Released Parties” are Publix 
and its direct and indirect companies, parent companies, subsidiaries, and affiliates, as well as the 
present, future, and former partners, members, shareholders, officers, directors, employees, 
agents, representatives, attorneys, predecessors, successors, insurers, and assigns of each and 
every one of the foregoing. The Released matters are:  

 
(a) any and all claims asserted or that could have been asserted against Publix in 

the Lawsuit; 
 
(b) any and all past, present, or future causes of action, claims for relief, 

crossclaims or counterclaims, theories of liability, demands, derivative claims, requests, 
assessments, charges, covenants, damages, debts, liens, losses, penalties, judgments, rights, 
obligations, disputes, suits, contracts, controversies, agreements, parens patriae claims, promises, 
performances, warranties, omissions, or grievances of any nature whatsoever, whether legal, 
equitable, statutory, regulatory or administrative, whether arising under federal, state or local 
statute, regulation, guidance, ordinance, common law, or principles of equity, whether filed or 
unfiled, whether asserted or unasserted, whether known or unknown, whether accrued or that 
may hereafter accrue, whether foreseen, unforeseen or unforeseeable, whether discovered or 
undiscovered, whether suspected or unsuspected, whether fixed or contingent, and whether 
existing or hereafter arising, in all such cases, including, but not limited to, any request for 
declaratory, injunctive, or equitable relief, compensatory, punitive, or statutory damages, 
absolute liability, strict liability, restitution, abatement, subrogation, contribution, indemnity, 
apportionment, disgorgement, reimbursement, attorneys’ fees, expert fees, consultant fees, fines, 
penalties, expenses, costs or any other legal, equitable, civil, administrative, or regulatory 
remedy whatsoever, from the beginning of time through the Effective Date (and any past, present 
or future consequence of any such act, failure to act, negligence, statement, error, omission, 



 

PAGE 3 OF 14 
 

breach of duty, conduct, event, transaction, agreement, misstatement, misleading statement or 
other activity), arising from or relating in any way to the: 

 
(i) distribution, dispensing, delivery, monitoring, reporting, supply, sale, 

prescribing, physical security, warehousing, handling, coverage, purchases, 
reimbursement, discovery, development, manufacture, packaging, repackaging, 
marketing, promotion, advertising, labeling, recall, withdrawal, loss, theft, diversion 
and/or any similar act or failure to act related to any “Product.”  “Product” means (1) any 
controlled substance including, without limitation, any opioid or opiate, benzodiaziapine, 
muscle relaxer or stimulant, as well as any product containing any such a controlled 
substance, and/or (2) any non-controlled chemical substance prescribed, sold, bought, or 
dispensed to be used together or in a combination or “cocktail” that includes opioids or 
opiates; 

 
(ii) the use and/or abuse of any Product; orders, prescriptions, formularies, 

guidelines, payments and/or rebates for any Product; policies, practices and/or operating 
procedures, statements, contracts, commercial arrangements, insurance, claim and/or 
benefit administration, claim adjudication, plan design, data and/or sales thereof, and/or 
any similar act or failure to act relating to any Product; and/or any system, plan, policy 
and/or advocacy relating to any Product, including but not limited to unbranded 
promotion, marketing, programs, and/or campaigns related to any Product and/or class of 
Product;  

 
(iii) the characteristics, properties, risks and/or benefits of any Product;  
 
(iv) the reporting, disclosure, non-reporting and/or non-disclosure to 

federal, state and/or other regulators of orders and/or prescriptions, theft, loss, diversion 
and/or any similar conduct related to any Product;  

 
(v) the purchasing, selling, acquiring, disposing of, importing, exporting, 

handling, processing, packaging, supplying, distributing, and/or converting any Product; 
or 

 
(vi) controls or lack of controls against diversion, corresponding 

responsibility, and/or suspicious order monitoring related to any Product; and 
 
(c) the alleged past, present, and future financial and societal harms and related 

expenditures arising out of the alleged misuse and abuse of the Product, including those 
expenditures that have allegedly arisen as a result of the physical and bodily injuries sustained by 
individuals suffering from opioid-related addiction, abuse, death, and other related diseases and 
disorders, and that (as alleged by the Local Governments) have allegedly been caused by Publix, 
including, but not limited to, all harms allegedly flowing from the activities described in Section 
B(1)(a) and B(1)(b)(i)-(vi).  

 
This release is broad and shall be interpreted so as to give the Publix Released Parties the 

broadest possible bar against any liability relating in any way to any of the Released Matters.  



 

PAGE 4 OF 14 
 

This Agreement shall be a complete bar to any of the Released Matters, including actions by 
third parties seeking to recover for harms to or in the Local Government’s geographic territories 
allegedly related to or cause by the Released Matters.  The Parties agree this release is intended 
to cover and to resolve any and all claims and any and all liability of Publix associated with the 
public nuisance and harm resulting therefrom alleged under the Public Nuisance Claim to have 
been caused or contributed to by Publix with respect to the Local Governments’ citizens or 
otherwise within the geographic territories of the Local Governments including, without 
limitation, claims for and liability associated with abatement of same.         
 

The Local Governments further covenant not to institute, participate in (except as 
compelled by judicial process), or continue any proceeding, suit, or action, at law or in equity, 
and including any administrative action, against any Publix Released Parties over any of the 
Released Matters. 
 

2. Remedies.   

a. No rescission.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this 
Agreement, no breach of this Agreement and no alleged mistake or unintentional omission will 
be cited as a basis for withdrawing, rescinding, excusing, or terminating any of the promises, 
obligations, waivers, or releases set forth in this Agreement. 

b. Breach of Covenant Not to Sue.  The commencement or continuation of 
any action or proceeding, or portion of an action or proceeding, that is inconsistent with the 
release and covenant not to sue will be deemed a breach of this Agreement, for which Publix 
Released Parties will be entitled to recovery of all resulting costs and reasonable attorneys’ fees 
as part of any judgment or disposition of such action, whether or not asserted in the form of a 
counterclaim or separate prayer for relief, and without limitation of any other available damages 
and remedies.  The Parties acknowledge that the breach of the above covenant not to sue would 
cause immediate and irreparable harm for which money damages would be inadequate.  In the 
event of such breach, the Local Governments agree that such covenant not to sue may be 
enforced by specific performance and injunctive relief without proof of actual injury. 

c. Remedies Not Exclusive.  No remedy set forth in this Agreement will be 
construed as an exclusive remedy but will be deemed in addition to all other remedies available 
at law or in equity.   

3. Community Contribution Funds.  Upon the execution of this Agreement by all 
of the Local Governments and satisfaction of the condition in Section B(17), Publix will deliver 
a check (made payable to the law firm of “Brinson, Askew, Berry, Seigler, Richardson & Davis, 
LLP” as counsel for the Local Governments) in the amount of Two-Hundred Ninety Thousand 
Dollars ($290,000.00) (the “Community Contribution Funds”) in the care of the following: 

J. Anderson Davis, Esq.  
Brinson, Askew, Berry, Seigler, Richardson & Davis, LLP 
The Omberg House 
615 West 1st Street 
Rome, Georgia, 30161 



 

PAGE 5 OF 14 
 

 
 The Community Contribution Funds will be delivered within 60 days of the Effective 
Date or dismissal with prejudice of Publix from the Lawsuit, whichever is later. 

 
4. Public Statement.  Notwithstanding Section B(20) below, the Parties are 

permitted, but not required, to release a statement that reads:  

By or on behalf of any of the Local Government: 

We appreciate Publix as a good community partner in many areas 
of Georgia. Our experience resolving the litigation on behalf of 
these Georgia cities and counties was no different. We 
acknowledge the company denies any wrongdoing regarding its 
pharmacy business and appreciate its willingness to make a 
contribution, on behalf of each of the Publix pharmacies in these 
communities, to be used to support local programs and services.   

By or on behalf of Publix: 

As a good community partner, Publix has a history of taking care 
of the customers and communities they serve, as well as their 
associates. Resolving the litigation brought by 24 political 
subdivisions in Georgia is no different. Publix engaged directly 
with local representatives who know the company’s corporate 
culture and all parties were committed to similar outcomes. While 
the company denies any wrongdoing, Publix appreciates the 
opportunity to make a contribution, on behalf of each of the Publix 
pharmacies in these communities, to be used to support local 
programs and services. 

5. Attorneys’ Fees.  The Parties will bear their own attorneys’ fees, expenses, and 
costs in connection with this Agreement and the Lawsuit.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the 
event of an action by any Party to enforce the terms of this Agreement, the prevailing party will 
be entitled to recover its costs and reasonable attorneys’ fees as part of any judgment or 
disposition of such action, whether or not pleaded as a separate prayer for relief, claim, or cause 
of action. 

6. The Local Governments’ Counsels’ Representations.   

a. Scope of Engagements.  Counsel for the Local Governments represent 
and agree that the Local Governments in Georgia are the only Georgia clients that they represent 
who allege any cause of action, nuisance, injury (economic or otherwise) arising from or relating 
to the Released Matters, irrespective of whether such clients have filed any legal action. Publix 
and counsel for the Local Governments agree that while nothing in this Agreement is intended to 
operate as a restriction on the right of counsel to practice law within the meaning of Georgia 
Rule of Professional Conduct 5.6(b), or any other applicable ethical rules or legal requirements, 
counsel for the Local Governments represent that they have no present intent to solicit, represent, 



 

PAGE 6 OF 14 
 

assist, or file or assert any claim on behalf of any clients not a party hereto, or not currently 
represented by Counsel for the Local Governments in other states or territories, for the purpose 
of bringing claims against the Publix Released Parties in connection with any of the Released 
Matters. 

b. No Sharing Material.  Except as such agreement may be forbidden by the 
Georgia Rules of Professional Conduct 1.16 and/or Rule 5.6, or any other applicable ethical rules 
or legal requirements, including but not limited to the Georgia Open Records Act, counsel for the 
Local Governments represent and agree that they will not directly or indirectly share or make 
available to any plaintiff, potential plaintiff, or their counsel: (i) any materials or information 
developed in the Lawsuit, including, but not limited to, correspondence, notes, analyses, 
interview memoranda, exhibit and witness lists, demonstrative exhibits, witness examination 
outlines, expert reports and exhibits, and results of jury research; (ii) experts, if any, with whom 
counsel for the Local Governments have entered into exclusive retention agreements; or (iii) 
documents or communications regarding the negotiations giving rise to this Agreement, 
including the papers regarding the methodologies and computations relating to or concerning the 
Community Contribution Funds. 

c. Return of Materials Produced in Discovery.  Except as such agreement 
may be forbidden by the Georgia Rules of Professional Conduct 1.16 and/or Rule 5.6, or any 
other applicable ethical rules or legal requirements, counsel for the Local Governments represent 
and agree that they will return to Publix, or certify destruction of, all materials produced in 
discovery, whether formally or informally, including confidential information as defined in any 
applicable confidentiality order(s), whether in their possession or in the possession of their 
clients, experts, consultants or other persons within their control, within 45 calendar days of the 
Effective Date of this Agreement, and shall provide written confirmation to Publix’s counsel that 
such return or destruction has occurred.  If necessary, the Parties shall jointly move to amend any 
applicable confidentiality order(s) to provide for such return or destruction of confidential 
information. 

7. Parties’ Warranties and Representations 

a. The persons executing this Agreement on behalf of the Parties are 18 years 
of age or older, of sound mind, laboring under no disabilities, and are legally competent and 
authorized to execute this Agreement and bind their respective Party to its commitments and 
undertakings in this Agreement; 

b. The persons executing this Agreement are entitled to make the releases 
herein, and the Parties have not assigned or otherwise transferred to any person or entity any 
matter released by this Agreement; 

c. Each Local Government, and each person signing on its behalf, represents 
and warrants that the Local Government has complied with all laws, ordinances, regulations, and 
procedures, and otherwise has taken all action, necessary to approve the Agreement and make it 
a binding commitment of the Local Government;  

d. The Parties are relying upon, and have been induced by, only the 



 

PAGE 7 OF 14 
 

representations, covenants, and warranties contained in this Agreement;  

e. The Parties have relied and are relying solely upon the advice of their own 
attorneys and their own judgment, belief, and knowledge of the legal nature, extents, and effects 
and consequences of this Agreement;  

f. No promise, inducement, or agreement not herein expressed has been 
made by any of the Parties, their representatives, or counsel; and 

g. It is understood and agreed by the Parties that this resolution is a 
compromise of disputed claims, and that the release and payment herein (or any other good and 
valuable consideration) are not to be construed as an admission of wrongdoing or liability on the 
part of Publix, and that any such wrongdoing or liability is expressly and unequivocally denied 
by Publix. 

8. Notices.  All notices sent pursuant to this Agreement or by law shall, unless 
otherwise provided in this Agreement, be in writing, shall be personally delivered or sent by 
reputable overnight courier (such as FedEx), addressed to the Parties as set forth below, and with 
a copy by email to counsel for the Parties: 

If to Publix:  Michael Kohler at michael.kohler@millermartin.com  

If to the Local Governments:  Andy Davis at adavis@brinson-askew.com.   

Each notice, demand, request, or other communication shall be deemed served two (2) 
business days after deposit with an overnight delivery service or on the date of delivery if sent by 
messenger against receipt or on the date of delivery if sent via email.  Any notice which is 
refused or returned as undeliverable when properly addressed, shall be deemed received in 
accordance with the previous sentence.  Notice of change of address shall be given in written 
notice in the manner detailed in this subsection. 

  If to Publix: 

   Publix Super Markets, Inc. 
   3300 Publix Corporate 
   Lakeland, Florida, 33811-3311 
   Attn:  General Counsel 
 

 If to Local Governments: 

J. Anderson Davis, Esq.  
Brinson, Askew, Berry, Seigler, Richardson & Davis, LLP 
The Omberg House 
615 West 1st Street 
Rome, Georgia, 30161 

 
9. Severability of Clauses.  If any sentence, phrase, provision, portion, or clause of 

this Agreement should at any time be declared or adjudged invalid, unlawful, unconstitutional, or 

mailto:michael.kohler@millermartin.com
mailto:adavis@brinson-askew.com


 

PAGE 8 OF 14 
 

unenforceable for any reason, said adjudication or declaration shall in no manner or way affect 
the other sentences, phrases, provisions, portions, or clauses of this Agreement, and all remaining 
portions shall remain in full force and effect as if the portion adjudged or declared invalid was 
not originally a part thereof. 

10. Counterparts.  A facsimile signature or signatures transmitted in PDF by 
electronic email will be binding and enforceable to the same extent as an original signature. This 
Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an 
original and all of which taken together shall constitute one and the same instrument.  When each 
Party has signed and delivered at least one (1) such counterpart to the other Party, each 
counterpart shall be deemed an original and taken together shall constitute one and the same 
agreement that shall be binding and effective as to all Parties.  The Agreement will not be 
considered fully executed unless and until it has been executed by all Parties. 

11. Entire Agreement; Successors in Interest; No Third-Party Beneficiaries; 
Final and Conclusive Agreement.  This Agreement contains the entire agreement between the 
Parties with regard to the matters set forth herein.  By executing this Agreement, the Parties 
represent that they have not received and have not relied upon any statement, representation, 
promise or omission by any other Party, nor relied upon any assumption caused by any other 
person, including any statements, representations, promises, omissions or assumptions that were 
made or arose in the course of their discussions or in negotiating this Agreement.  The Parties 
understand that they are adversaries to a dispute, that any such reliance would not be reasonable, 
that they are foregoing their opportunity to take discovery as a part of any lawsuit, and that they 
are compromising and releasing claims without information that might have been discoverable in 
such a proceeding.  The Agreement will be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the Parties 
hereto and the successors and assigns of each. Other than as expressly stated in this Agreement, 
this Agreement is not intended to create any rights in third parties or any third-party beneficiaries 
other than persons for whom a direct benefit is specifically provided for hereunder.  The Parties 
acknowledge that they have been represented in the negotiations for, and in preparation of, this 
Agreement by counsel of their choice, that they have read this Agreement and have had it fully 
explained to them by such counsel, and that they are fully aware of the contents of this 
Agreement and of the legal effect of each and every provision thereof.  Each Party has made 
such investigation of the facts pertaining to this Agreement and of all of the matters pertaining 
thereto as it deems necessary.  

12. Governing Law & Choice of Forum.  The Parties agree that the laws of the 
State of Georgia will govern the validity and interpretation of this Agreement and that 
jurisdiction and/or venue of any action involving the validity, interpretation, or enforcement of 
this Agreement or any of its terms, provisions or obligations or claiming breach thereof, will 
exist exclusively in the state or federal courts having jurisdiction in and over Floyd County, 
Georgia.  The aforementioned choice of venue is intended by the Parties to be mandatory and not 
permissive in nature, thereby precluding the possibility of litigation between the Parties with 
respect to or arising out of this Agreement in any jurisdiction other than that specified in this 
paragraph. Each Party hereby waives any right it may have to assert the doctrine of forum non 
conveniens or similar doctrine or to object to venue with respect to any proceeding brought in 
accordance with, this paragraph, and stipulates that the state or federal courts having jurisdiction 
in and over Floyd County, Georgia, shall have in personam jurisdiction and venue over each of 



 

PAGE 9 OF 14 
 

them solely for the purpose of litigating any dispute, controversy, or proceeding arising out of or 
related to this Agreement. The Parties hereby submit to the jurisdiction and venue of such courts 
and waive any right to challenge or otherwise object to personal jurisdiction or venue in any 
action commenced or maintained in such courts. 

13. Construction.  The Parties agree that the terms and conditions of this Agreement 
are the result of the joint drafting among the Parties and/or their counsel, and no law or rule 
requiring the interpretation of uncertainties against a drafting party will apply. 

14. Modification.  This Agreement may not be changed, altered, or modified except 
in writing signed by all the Parties to this Agreement. This Agreement may not be discharged 
except by performance in accordance with its terms or by a writing signed by all the Parties to 
this Agreement. 

15. Survival of Representations and Warranties.  All representations and 
warranties set forth in this Agreement will be deemed continuing and shall survive the Effective 
Date. 

16. Additional Documents.  All Parties to this Agreement agree to cooperate fully 
and execute and deliver any and all supplementary documents, to provide all information, and to 
take and refrain from taking any and all additional actions that may be necessary or appropriate 
to give full force and effect to the terms and intent of this Agreement.   

17. Dismissal With Prejudice.  Within 10 business days of the Effective Date, the 
Local Governments will file the necessary paperwork to dismiss, or seek to dismiss, Publix from 
the Lawsuit with prejudice. The Parties agree such filing shall not be necessary, however, if, 
prior to the deadline for such filing, the court has granted Publix’s pending motion in the Lawsuit 
to dismiss, and provided the Local Governments comply with their obligations in Section B(2)(b) 
and no Local Government shall take any action to appeal, revive, reinstate, refile, or otherwise 
pursue its claims in any respect against Publix in any administrative, state, or federal tribunal.   

18. Headings.  Headings are for convenience only and are not part of the Agreement 
and shall not be used in construing this Agreement. 

19. Recitals.  The Recitals above are adopted and incorporated in this Agreement as 
if stated verbatim here.   

20. Confidentiality and Limited Non-Disclosure.  As an inducement to Publix 
entering into this Agreement, but Publix recognizing that Local Governments are limited in 
providing confidentiality, and in consideration of One Hundred and 00/100 Dollars ($100.00), 
which is part of the payment in Section B(3) above: 

a. The Local Governments and their counsel agree that they will not directly 
or indirectly disclose, publish, publicize, disseminate, or otherwise communicate to any 
individual or entity any term, condition, or provision of this Agreement, including the settlement 
amount, except as expressly allowed below.   

 
b. The confidentiality provisions in this Agreement do not prohibit or restrict 



 

PAGE 10 OF 14 
 

the Local Governments from making such disclosure as is required by law, including but not 
limited to the Georgia Open Records Act, acting in an open meeting to approve a Resolution to 
resolve this matter, and approving this Agreement in an opening meeting, or disclosures or 
communications to governmental agencies or entities, attorneys, insurers, reinsurers, or 
accountants who require such information. Under these circumstances, the Local Governments 
will not disclose the amount of the Community Contribution Funds unless necessary and will 
make every effort to limit the disclosure to only those individuals who require the disclosure. 

 
c. In the event that, pursuant to a valid subpoena, court order, or other valid 

legal process in any litigation, the Local Government’s attendance, testimony, or production of 
documents is commanded or required which would require disclosure of the Agreement and/or 
any of its terms, conditions, or monetary consideration, unless prohibited or restricted by 
applicable law or court order, the Local Governments will promptly provide Publix with written 
notice for the purpose of determining whether to intervene in order to maintain the 
confidentiality of the information, and shall exercise reasonable efforts to attempt to maintain the 
confidentiality of this Agreement. Nothing herein shall require the Local Governments to 
provide notice to Publix of any Open Records request that may seek disclosure of the Agreement 
and/or other documents associated herewith. 

 
d. In the event that any of the Released Matters are asserted against any of 

the Publix Released Parties, nothing shall prohibit them from referencing or using this 
Agreement in that proceeding, including, but not limited to, in any pleading, motion, discovery 
response, or as an exhibit at hearing or trial. 

 
e. Except as provided in subparagraph b., above, the Local Governments and 

their employees, attorneys, agents, and any other representatives covenant and agree that they 
will not disclose or reveal to any person, corporation, newspaper, radio station, television station, 
or any other entity whatsoever, nor will they directly or indirectly, cause to be disclosed, 
revealed, published, publicized, disseminated, or communicated, to any person, corporation, 
media outlet or entity, any information whatsoever concerning the amount, terms, 
methodologies, computations, or conditions of this Agreement, including the Community 
Contribution Funds. 

 
f. If there is a breach of this Section (as qualified by the exceptions in 

subparagraph b., above) resulting from a statement (other than a statement authorized by section 
B.4, above) to any press or media outlet or to other litigants or potential litigants or their counsel, 
the Local Governments and their counsel agree and stipulate that damages which would result 
from such breach may be substantial but difficult to quantify; therefore, in the event of a breach 
described in this subparagraph, the Local Governments and their counsel agree that Publix will 
be entitled to recover, solely from the breaching Local Government, liquidated damages of the 
amount that the breaching party received from the Community Contribution Funds or $10,000, 
whichever is less.  

 
[SIGNATURES FOLLOW ON THE NEXT 4 PAGES] 

 



 

PAGE 11 OF 14 
 

Publix Super Markets, Inc. 

 
      
By:        
Title:        
Date:      
 

Counsel for the Local Governments as to Sections B(6) & B(20) only: 

 
Brinson, Askew, Berry, Seigler, 
Richardson & Davis, LLP 
 
 
      
By:        
Title:        
Date:      
 

 
McCamy, Phillips, Tuggle & Fordham, 
LLC 
 
      
By:        
Title:        
Date:      
 

 
The Finnell Firm 
 
      
By:        
Title:        
Date:      
 

 
Crongeyer Law Firm, P.C. 
 
      
By:        
Title:        
Date:      
 

 
Bird Law Group, P.C. 
 
      
By:        
Title:        
Date:      
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

PAGE 12 OF 14 
 

 

The Local Governments: 

 
Carroll County 
 
      
By:        
Title:        
Date:      
 

 
Catoosa County 
 
      
By:        
Title:        
Date:      
 

 
Chattooga County 
 
      
By:        
Title:        
Date:      
 

 
Colquitt County 
 
      
By:        
Title:        
Date:      
 

 
Floyd County 
 
      
By:        
Title:        
Date:      
 

 
Gordon County 
 
      
By:        
Title:        
Date:      
 

 
Murray County 
 
      
By:        
Title:        
Date:      
 

 
Telfair County 
 
      
By:        
Title:        
Date:      
 

 
Whitfield County 
 
      
By:        
Title:        
Date:      
 

 
City of Ashburn 
 
      
By:        
Title:        
Date:      
 

  



 

PAGE 13 OF 14 
 

 
City of Calhoun 
 
      
By:        
Title:        
Date:      
 

 
City of Carrollton 
 
      
By:        
Title:        
Date:      
 

 
City of Cartersville 
 
      
By:        
Title:        
Date:      
 
 
City of Dawsonville 
 
      
By:        
Title:        
Date:      
 

 
City of Chatsworth 
 
      
By:        
Title:        
Date:      
 
 
City of Helen 
 
      
By:        
Title:        
Date:      
 

 
City of Jackson 
 
      
By:        
Title:        
Date:      
 

 
City of Marietta 
 
      
By:        
Title:        
Date:      
 

 
City of McDonough 
 
      
By:        
Title:        
Date:      
 

 
City of Moultrie 
 
      
By:        
Title:        
Date:      
 



 

PAGE 14 OF 14 
 

 
City of Ringgold 
 
      
By:        
Title:        
Date:      
 

 
City of Rome 
 
      
By:        
Title:        
Date:      
 

 
City of Snellville 
 
      
By:        
Title:        
Date:      
 

 
City of Valdosta 
 
      
By:        
Title:        
Date:      
 

 
City of Villa Rica 
 
      
By:        
Title:        
Date:      
 

 
City of Winder 
 
      
By:        
Title:        
Date:      
 

 
City of Woodstock 
 
      
By:        
Title:        
Date:      
 

 
 

 

 

 

 



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:  APPROVE CONTRACT FOR MEDICAL, DENTAL, TERM LIFE, SUPPLEMENTAL 

INSURANCE AND SECTION 125 
 

     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  08/07/2023   
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #        

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 

    
TO REQUEST APPROVAL FOR THE CONTRACT WITH MARK III FOR MEDICAL, DENTAL, 

TERM LIFE, SUPPLEMENTAL INSURANCE AND SECTION 125 BROKER 
    
 
 

 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 

• CONTRACT APPROVED BY CITY ATTORNEY 
 

   
 

     OPTIONS: 
 
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
   
RECOMMEND APPROVAL    
 
 

 
 

     REQUESTED BY: Robin Gazaway, Finance Administrator 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #   7c     
 

 

 



1 

Contract for Medical, Dental, Term Life, Supplemental 
Insurance, and Section 125 Broker 

 
Between City of Dawsonville and Mark III Brokerage, Inc. 

 
 
THIS AGREEMENT made the 1st of July 2023 between City of Dawsonville whose 
business is at 415 Highway 53 East, Suite 100, Dawsonville, GA 30534 and Mark III 
Brokerage, Inc., a North Carolina Corporation whose business address is 211 Greenwich 
Road, Charlotte, North Carolina 28211. 
 
City of Dawsonville has agreed to contract with Mark III Brokerage as the Broker for the 
Medical, Dental, Term Life, Supplemental Insurance, and Section 125 programs effective 
December 1, 2022 to November 30, 2023.  Thereafter, the contract is renewable on an 
annual basis. 
 
Medical Insurance 
 
Responsibilities of Mark III Brokerage: 
 

1. Mark III Brokerage will act as the Broker for medical plan for City of Dawsonville.   
 
2. Mark III’s responsibilities include: 

 
Below are the services and cost for our medical plan consulting: 
 
Marketing and Evaluation Services – Mark III has the expertise to market and 
evaluate the medical plan.  We will perform the following functions: 

 
a. Specification Preparation  

 
With the guidance and assistance from the City, Mark III will prepare 
specifications that give the carriers/vendors an accurate assessment of 
your existing health insurance; including census, claims activity, current 
plan design, and requested plan designs.  The specifications outline your 
concerns and goals. 

 
b. Marketing the Specifications 

 
Mark III will contact the qualified carriers and vendors to determine their 
interest in evaluating your medical plan.  Carriers/vendors that express 



2 

an interest are sent the specifications to obtain a response.  Mark III is 
responsible for gathering the responses from the qualified 
carriers/vendors. 

 
c. Evaluate the Responses 

 
Once all proposals are received, the City and Mark III will narrow down 
the most competitive carriers/vendors based on, but not limited to, the 
following criteria: 

 
1. Quality of Care provided to the employees and their dependents. 

 
2. Sound financial status of the firm. 

 
3. Outstanding service, including but not limited to, strong client service 

support, home office underwriting, contracts and legal service 
departments, claims processing, and related customer service. 

 
4. Networks, which provide excellent access to hospitals and physicians 

in the locations where employees reside.  Carriers/vendors will 
complete a Provider Access Report (Geo-Access Report) using a 
criteria designated which will provide complete coverage for your 
employees. 

 
5. Managed care expertise. 

 
6. Competitive rates or fee structure. 

 
7. Future stability of rates/fees. 

 
8. Provision of comprehensive experience reports to the client so that 

an evaluation can be made relative the plan performance. 
 

9. Carrier flexibility when plan design changes are necessary to meet the 
needs of the employees and the employer. 

 
10. Provision of quality ongoing service and a service team that is 

dedicated to solving problems that arise during the plan year. 
 

11. An ongoing employee education program to assist the employees’ 
understanding of the plan's operation. 

 
12. The flexibility to expand the network to cover new employees. 

 



3 

Mark III will provide a comprehensive evaluation, giving a side-by-side 
comparison of each vendor's offer. 

 
The finalists are given the opportunity to make presentations to the City.  This 
gives the staff the chance to ask questions and evaluate the carriers based on 
their responses.  We have taken a long-term approach when creating a 
relationship with the employer and your satisfaction with the programs that are 
implemented will always be imperative. 

 
During the plan year we track the claims to look for trends and monitor the 
service level of the vendor.  Prior to the client receiving the renewal from the 
carrier/vendor, Mark III will evaluate the initial experience and develop our 
renewal, separate of the carrier/vendor.  Once Mark III has completed our initial 
evaluation, we will meet with the client to discuss our initial assessment.   
 
At the renewal meeting, we will compare our estimates against the 
carrier/vendor’s using the following criteria: 

  
a. Claims activity. 
 
b. Competitiveness of the carrier’s reserving philosophy.  This will be 

determined by comparing their assumptions to industry norms. 
 

c. Competitiveness of the carrier’s retention.  This will be determined by 
comparing their costs to industry norms. 

 
d. Changes in the demographic composition of the client and how that 

has changed over time.  How these demographics (manual rate) 
impact the renewal. 

 
e. How competitive/aggressive the carrier is when weighing the manual 

rate vs. the experience rate or visa versa. 
 

f. Industry trending factors. 
 

Based on the initial results of our meeting and how satisfied the City/Mark III is 
with the renewal, will determine the next step.  If the renewal is competitive and 
there is not a significant financial or benefit change that is required, no action 
would be taken.  If the response from the carrier/vendor were uncompetitive, 
then further negotiation would take place.  If a satisfactory response from the 
carrier/vendor does not occur, then Mark III would market the plan in question 
to see if a more competitive offer can be attained from other qualified vendors. 

 



4 

At the Cities request, Mark III will provide budget projections throughout the 
plan year, to help the City plan for financial considerations. 

 
COBRA Administrator – If the medical plan payor does not provide COBRA 
administration services for the City, Mark III will help City of Dawsonville 
Government identify a COBRA administrator as part of the medical consulting 
services.  The cost for the services delivered by the COBRA administrator will be 
borne by the City. 

 
 
 
 
Dental, Term Life, and Supplemental Insurance Plan Broker Services 
 

Mark III will function as the broker for the City of Dawsonville Dental, Term Life, 
and Supplemental Insurance programs.  We will perform the following functions: 

 
a. Specification Preparation  

 
With the guidance and assistance from the City, Mark III will prepare 
specifications that give the carriers/vendors an accurate assessment of 
your existing insurance programs; including census, claims activity, 
current plan design, and requested plan designs.  The specifications 
outline your concerns and goals. 

 
b. Marketing the Specifications 

 
Mark III will contact the qualified carriers and vendors to determine their 
interest in evaluating your plans.  Carriers/vendors that express an 
interest are sent the specifications to obtain a response.  Mark III is 
responsible for gathering the responses from the qualified 
carriers/vendors. 

 
c. Evaluate the Responses 

 
Once all proposals are received, the City and Mark III will narrow down 
the most competitive carriers/vendors based on, but not limited to, the 
following criteria: 

 
1. Quality of Care provided to the employees and their dependents. 

 
2. Sound financial status of the firm. 

 



5 

3. Outstanding service, including but not limited to, strong client service 
support, home office underwriting, contracts and legal service 
departments, claims processing, and related customer service. 

 
4. Competitive rates or fee structure. 

 
5. Future stability of rates/fees. 

 
6. Provision of comprehensive experience reports to the client so that 

an evaluation can be made relative to the plan performance. 
 

7. Carrier flexibility when plan design changes are necessary to meet the 
needs of the employees and the employer. 

 
8. Provision of quality ongoing service and a service team that is 

dedicated to solving problems that arise during the plan year. 
 

Mark III will provide a comprehensive evaluation, giving a side-by-side 
comparison of each vendor's offer. 

 
When possible, during the plan year we track the claims to look for trends and 
monitor the service level of the vendor.  Prior to the client receiving the renewal 
from the carrier/vendor, Mark III will evaluate the initial experience and develop 
our renewal, separate of the carrier/vendor.  Once Mark III has completed our 
initial evaluation, we will meet with the client to discuss our initial assessment.   
 
At the renewal meeting, we will compare our estimates against the 
carrier/vendor’s using the following criteria: 

  
a. Claims activity. 
 
b. Competitiveness of the carrier’s reserving philosophy.  This will be 

determined by comparing their assumptions to industry norms. 
 

c. Competitiveness of the carrier’s retention.  This will be determined by 
comparing their costs to industry norms. 

 
d. Changes in the demographic composition of the client and how that 

has changed over time.  How these demographics (manual rate) 
impact the renewal. 

 
e. How competitive/aggressive the carrier is when weighing the manual 

rate vs. the experience rate or visa versa. 
 



6 

f. Industry trending factors. 
 

Based on the initial results of our meeting and how satisfied the City/Mark III is 
with the renewal, will determine the next step.  If the renewal is competitive and 
there is not a significant financial or benefit change that is required, no action 
would be taken.  If the response from the carrier/vendor is uncompetitive, then 
further negotiation would take place.  If a satisfactory response from the 
carrier/vendor does not occur, then Mark III would market the plan in question 
to see if a more competitive offer can be attained from other qualified vendors. 

 
At the Cities request, Mark III will provide budget projections throughout the 
plan year, to help the City plan for financial considerations. 

 
 
Cost: 
 
We will provide all of the above services for the medical, dental, term life plans, and 
supplemental plans, Mark III will receive the commissions built into the programs. 
 
 
 
Responsibilities of Mark III Brokerage: 
 

1. Mark III Brokerage will act as the Broker for all of the insurance programs 
implemented in the Section 125 program for City of Dawsonville. 

 
2. Mark III’s responsibilities include: 

 
a. Prepare, market, and evaluate the responses to requests for proposals 

created by Mark III Brokerage.  The specifications will be developed with 
the input from the customer. 

 
b. The criteria for the requests for proposal will be based on, but not limited 

to the following: 
 

1. Outstanding service, including but not limited to, strong client service 
support, home office underwriting, contracts and legal service 
departments, claims processing, and related customer service. 

 
2. Competitive plan designs. 

 
3. Competitive rates or fee structure. 

 
4. Future stability of rates. 



7 

 
5. Provision of comprehensive experience reports to the client so that 

an evaluation can be made as to the plan performance. 
 

6. Carrier flexibility when plan design changes are necessary to meet the 
needs of the employees and the employer. 

 
7. Provision of ongoing quality service and a service team that is 

dedicated to solving problems that arise during the plan year.   
 
c. Mark III Brokerage will provide an employee benefits web site.  The web 

site will include the following: 
 
1. Description of the Section 125 benefits. 

 
2. Summary of the Medical Program 
 
3. Summary of the Dental Program 
 
4. Summary of the Term Life Program 

 
5. Summary of the Supplemental Programs 

 
6. Forms for the employees to download. 

 
 
d.  Mark III Brokerage will return the enrollment results to the employer, 

which can be down loaded into your payroll system. 
 

e. The communication will be handled in two phases: 
 

1. Group Meetings – As needed, Mark III will conduct group 
presentations.  At the group meetings, the employees are given 
information concerning all of the benefits.  To review all of the 
benefits, each meeting will last approximately 30 minutes.  The 
amount of content communicated during the group presentation is 
up to the employer.  

 
2. Individual Meetings – The employees are given time to meet with an 

enroller on a one-on-one basis.  These meetings will be held at 
specific times and at the work locations.  At this time, questions may 
be asked and forms completed.  A copy of the election form is given 
to the employee as a confirmation. 

 



8 

3. Allow employees to make their annual elections on the Web.  
Employees can perform the following functions on the Site: 

 
Employees can view and change certain personal information – based 
on allowable changes: 
 

i. Change address. 
ii. Change home phone number. 

 
Employees can view current enrollment information in the following: 
 

i. Medical Coverage. 
ii. Dental Coverage. 

iii. Flexible Spending Account Participation. 
iv. Group Life. 
v. Disability. 

vi. Other defined benefits as permitted. 
 
Web Enrollment Functionality 
 
a. Enroll in the Medical Plan. 
 
b. Designate covered dependents in the Medical Plan. 
 
c. Enroll in the Dental Plan. 
 
d. Designate covered dependents in the Dental Plan. 

 
e. Enroll in Medical and Dependent Care Flexible Spending Accounts. 

 
f. Enroll in Supplemental Group Life – Depending on Enrollment 

Rules and Carrier cooperation. 
 

g. Enroll in Disability – Depending on Enrollment Rules and Carrier 
cooperation. 

 
h. Enroll in other benefits as allowed and contingent upon Carrier 

cooperation. 
 

i. Descriptions of covered benefits are provided. 
 

j. The enrollment results will be returned back to City of 
Dawsonville and designated vendors. 

 



9 

k. The expectation is that the annual enrollment will be conducted in 
the three months prior to the plan year beginning each year. 

 
l. While it is the expectation of Mark III Brokerage to accommodate 

every request for web-enrollment processes by City of 
Dawsonville, the web, like every enrollment process does have its 
limitations.  Any request for enrollment processes of functionality 
must be approved by Mark III Brokerage.  This is to ensure that 
the promises made can be delivered. 

 
m. The Site will only use carrier-approved forms for enrollment, 

statement of health, and beneficiary designation.  Approval is 
required for use of any carrier form or document.  No changes will 
be made to the content or format of the carrier forms or 
documents, without their approval, and, if required, regulatory 
approval. 

 
Use of carrier forms and documents is subject to any other 
conditions established by the carrier, e.g., use of carrier control 
numbers, time limits or periodic re-approval of use. 

 
n. Prior to an employee conducting transactions on the Site, the Site 

will require employees give their consent to the use electronic 
signatures, records and transactions.  The site shall use forms and 
processes that comply with applicable laws, including the 
consumer consent provisions of E-SIGN, and carrier requirements. 

 
o. To comply with certain legal requirements related to transactions, 

the site shall deliver information and documents as specified by 
the carriers. 

 
p. The site functions and related transactions, shall take all legally 

required and commercially reasonable measures to protect the 
privacy of information about individuals, including personal, 
financial, medical and other such information. 

 
 

f. Mark III Brokerage will provide a Section 125 administrator at no cost to 
the employer or its employees.  This includes premium conversion and 
flexible spending accounts. 
 
To enable us to deliver a quality Section 125 program to you at no cost, 
Mark III will be the broker for all programs marketed as part of the 
Section 125 program.  To offset spending account costs incurred by Mark 



10 

III Brokerage, the customer will accept recommendations by Mark III 
Brokerage for new products and services. 

 
g. Salaried Enrollment Team – All of the enrollers used by Mark III are non-

commissioned. 
 

h. Mark III will produce Section 125 booklets for all of your employees.  The 
information is in a concise and informative format.  The brochure will 
give your employees all of their benefits information in one document. 

 
i. Mark III will provide full time service personnel to answer questions that 

your employees and staff might have.  Our service staff’s core 
responsibility is only to address the needs of our customer.  They are not 
responsible for marketing.  We are advocates for the employer and its 
employees, not the insurance company. 

 
 
3. Responsibilities of the third-party administrator: 

 
a. The Third Party Administrator with whom Mark III coordinates shall 

design the Plan Document and keep updated as necessary. 
 

b. The Third Party Administrator with whom Mark III coordinates will 
adjudicate the claims incurred by the employees and dependents of the 
customer. 

 
Responsibilities of City of Dawsonville: 
 

1. City of Dawsonville agrees to support Mark III Brokerage’s efforts to 
communicate the Section 125 program by making the employees available 
during working hours. 

 
2. City of Dawsonville agrees to take and remit the payroll deductions for the 

various firms involved in the Section 125 program. 
 

3. City of Dawsonville will not take payroll deductions for insurance products that 
compete with the Section 125 program. 

 
4. City of Dawsonville will discourage vendors who solicit insurance products that 

compete with the Section 125 program from contacting employees during 
normal City hours on City property. 

 
5. City of Dawsonville will actively support the efforts of Mark III Brokerage/Impact 

Interactive to build and communicate the Site.  Support is defined as: 



11 

 
a. Providing accurate electronic enrollment and personnel data on a 

timely basis. 
 
b. Ensuring that the vendors provide data on a timely basis. 
 
c. Communicate and promote the Site to the employee population and 

the procedures for enrollment in the Site. 
 

d. Provide locations at work for employees to enroll on the web. 
 
 
 
City of Dawsonville 
 
 
Signature:  __________________________ 
 
Title:  ______________________________ 
 
Date:  ______________________________ 
 
 
 
Mark III Brokerage, Inc. 
 
 
Signature:  ___________________________ 
 
Title:  _______________________________ 
 
Date:  _______________________________ 



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:   APPROVE AMENDED BID FOR CONSTRUCTION OF BASKETBALL COURT 
 
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  08/07/2023   
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #        

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST:     

TO REQUEST APPROVAL TO ACCEPT THE AMENDED BID FOR THE CONSTRUCTION OF THE 
BASKETBALL COURT. 

 

BID DOCUMENT AMENDED TO REMOVE THE 3 YEAR WARRANTY CLAUSE; ALL OTHER 
DETAILS (INCLUDING PRICE) REMAINS THE SAME 

    
 
 

 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 

• BID AWARD AMENDED TO REMOVE THE 3 YEAR WARRANTY CLAUSE.  
• THE BONDING COMPANY FOR SIGNATURE TENNIS COURTS WILL NOT PROVIDE 

PAYMENT AND PERFORMANCE BONDS WITH THE INCLUDED LANGUAGE OF A 3 
YEAR WARRANTY.  REGARDLESS, SIGNATURE TENNIS HAS STATED THEY WILL 
STILL HONOR THEIR STANDARD WARRANTY OF THREE YEARS.   

• CITY COUNCIL ORIGNALLY AWARDED THE BID ON 10/03/2022 
• PROJECT COULD NOT BE STARTED UNTIL THE PROPER GRADING/COMPACTION 

WAS DONE AT THE SITE; CONSTRUCTION IS NOW READY TO BEGIN 
• ATTORNEY TALLANT REVIEWED THE REQUEST AND DOCUMENT WITH A 

RECOMMENDATION TO RECEIVE COUNCIL APPROVAL FOR THE CONTRACT CHANGE 
    

     OPTIONS: 
 
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
   
RECOMMEND APPROVAL   
 
 

 
 

     REQUESTED BY: Trampas Hansard, Public Works Director/Beverly Banister, City Clerk 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #   7d     
 

 

 



 
 
 
PHONE: 404-642-5002 
FAX: 770-516-0916 
MIKE@SIGNATURETENNIS.COM  Mike Imbornone (Owner) 
 

  
August 29, 2022 
 
TO:  CITY OF DAWSONVILLE / MAIN STREET PARK 
304 MAIN STREET DAWSONVILLE, GA 30534  
RFP #2023-04 
 

MAIN STREET PARK BASKETBALL COURT 
BUILD NEW BASKETBALL COURT 

 (50’ X 80’) 
 

1. FINE GRADE ONE AREA 50’ X 80’ WITH LASER GRADER 
NOTE:  ROUGH GRADE MUST BE WITHIN PLUS OR MINUS ONE TENTH OF ONE FOOT AND 
PROPERLY COMPACTED 

2. HAUL AND PLACE 4” OF CRUSHER RUN WITH LASER GRADER 
3. ROLL CRUSHER RUN WHEN MOIST UNTIL COMPACTED 

NOTE:  COMPACTION TEST TO VERIFY PROPER COMPACTION WILL BE PERFORMED 
4. APPLY 2” OF FINE TOPPING ASPHALT 
5. INSTALL TWO NEW ENDURANCE BASKETBALL SYSTEMS 
6. PATCH COURT TO U.S. COURT SPECIFICATIONS 
7. APPLY 2 COATS OF BLACK & 2 COATS OF ACRYTECH COLORED FULL ACRYLIC PLAYING 

SURFACE 
NOTE: IF ACRYTECH IS OUT OF STOCK, WE WILL USE A BRAND THAT IS EQUAL IN QUALITY  
(COLORS TO BE ROYAL BLUE AND LIGHT GREEN UNLESS SPECIFIED OTHERWISE) 

8. STRIPE BASKETBALL COURT WITH ONE COAT OF PRIMER AND TWO COATS OF TEXTURIZED 
WHITE LINE PAINT  

9. CLEAN WORKSITE THOROUGHLY 
 

TOTAL:  $38,900 
 

 
 

NOTE: OWNER IS RESPONSIBLE FOR ALL RE-LANDSCAPING AND ACCESS TO JOB 
 
 
NOTE: OWNER MUST PROVIDE WATER AND ELECTRICITY WITHIN CLOSE PROXIMITY OF  
COURTS 
 
CONTINUED ON NEXT PAGE 



 
 
 
PHONE: 404-642-5002 
FAX: 770-516-0916 
MIKE@SIGNATURETENNIS.COM  Mike Imbornone (Owner) 
 

  
PAGE TWO 
CITY OF DAWSONVILLE 
BUILD NEW BASKETBALL COURT 

 
 
OPTION: 
INSTALL 10’ HIGH BLACK VINYL COATED 9 GAUGE WIRE, POWDER COATED 3” TERMINAL POSTS, 
2 ½” LINE POSTS, AND HARDWARE AS NECESSARY  
NOTE: TERMINAL POSTS WILL BE SET IN A MINIMUM OF 200 LBS OF CONCRETE PER FOOTING 
AND LINE POSTS WILL BE SET IN A MINIMUM OF 120 LBS OF CONCRETE PER FOOTING 
 
ADD: $16,900 
 
 
 

 
NOTE: PRICING DOES NOT INCLUDE THE FOLLOWING: 
PERMITS 
ROUGH GRADING 
ENGINEERING STUDIES OR REPORTS 
REMOVAL OF EXISTING TREES OR OTHER STRUCTURES ON SITE 
LOCATION OF EXISTING UTILITIES 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
________________________________  _____________ 
ACCEPTANCE SIGNATURE    DATE 



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:   APPROVE JLC ROOM RENTAL FEE WAIVER FOR THE KIWANIS CLUB OF 

DAWSON COUNTY 
 

     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  08/07/2023   
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #        

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
   
TO REQUEST APPROVAL TO WAIVE THE RENTAL FEES FOR THE JOE LANE COX ROOM 

FOR THE USE OF THE KIWANIS CLUB; TOTAL AMOUNT $125 
    
 
 

 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 

• THEIR CURRENT MEETING ROOM AT THE BANK IS BEING RENOVATED AND THEY 
ARE IN NEED OF A TEMPORARY SPACE FOR BOTH OF THEIR MEETINGS IN AUGUST 

• DATES ARE 08/01 AND 08/15 FROM 11:30 – 1:30 PM; TOTAL FEE WOULD BE $125 
SINCE THEY ARE A NON-PROFIT GROUP LOCATED WITHIN THE CITY LIMITS 

• DIRECTOR EDMONDSON WILL BE PRESENTING SOME INFORMATION ON THE 
STRATEGIC PLAN AT THEIR FIRST MEETING 

 

   
 

     OPTIONS: 
 
 STAFF RECOMMENDS APPROVING THE RENTAL FEE WAIVER 
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
   
 
 

 
 

     REQUESTED BY: Bob Bolz, City Manager 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #   7e     
 

 

 





                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:   AWARD ANNOUNCEMENT: CERTIFICATE OF ACHIEVEMENT FOR 

EXCELLENCE IN FINANCIAL REPORTING FY 2022 
 

     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  08/07/2023    
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #        

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 

   TO PRESENT THE GFOA’S CERTIFICATE OF ACHIEVEMENT FOR EXCELLENCE IN FINANCIAL 
REPORTING AND THE AWARD OF FINANCIAL REPORTING ACHIEVEMENT FOR FISCAL YEAR 2022  

    
 
 

 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 

• THIS IS THE NINTH CONSECUTIVE YEAR THE CITY HAS RECEIVED THIS AWARD 
 

   
 

     OPTIONS: 
 
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
   
 
 

 
 

     REQUESTED BY: Robin Gazaway, Finance Administrator______ 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #    8    
 

 

 



7/18/2023

Mike Eason
Mayor
City of Dawsonville, Georgia

Dear Mike:

We are pleased to notify you that your annual comprehensive financial report for the fiscal year ended 
June 30, 2022 qualifies for GFOA's Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting. 
The Certificate of Achievement is the highest form of recognition in governmental accounting and 
financial reporting, and its attainment represents a significant accomplishment by a government and its 
management.

When a Certificate of Achievement is awarded to a government, an Award of Financial Reporting 
Achievement (AFRA) is also presented to the individual(s) or department designated by the government 
as primarily responsible for its having earned the Certificate. This award has been sent to the submitter as 
designated on the application.

We hope that you will arrange for a formal presentation of the Certificate and Award of Financial 
Reporting Achievement, and give appropriate publicity to this notable achievement. A sample news 
release is included to assist with this effort.

We hope that your example will encourage other government officials in their efforts to achieve and 
maintain an appropriate standard of excellence in financial reporting.

Sincerely,

Michele Mark Levine
Director, Technical Services



FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE

7/18/2023 For more information contact: 
Michele Mark Levine, Director/TSC
Phone: (312) 977-9700
Fax: (312) 977-4806
Email: mlevine@gfoa.org

(Chicago, Illinois)—Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA) has 
awarded the Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to City of Dawsonville for its 
annual comprehensive financial report for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022. The report has been judged by an 
impartial panel to meet the high standards of the program, which includes demonstrating a constructive "spirit 
of full disclosure" to clearly communicate its financial story and motivate potential users and user groups to read 
the report. 

The Certificate of Achievement is the highest form of recognition in the area of governmental accounting and 
financial reporting, and its attainment represents a significant accomplishment by a government and its 
management.

Government Finance Officers Association (GFOA) advances excellence in government finance by providing best 
practices, professional development, resources, and practical research for more than 21,000 members and the 
communities they serve.



Government Finance Officers Association

Certificate of 
Achievement
for Excellence

in Financial 
Reporting

Presented to

City of Dawsonville
Georgia

For its Annual Comprehensive
Financial Report

For the Fiscal Year Ended

June 30, 2022

Executive Director/CEO



The Government Finance Officers Association of 
the United States and Canada

presents this

AWARD OF FINANCIAL REPORTING ACHIEVEMENT
to

The Award of Financial Reporting Achievement is presented by the Government Finance Officers 
Association to the department or individual designated as instrumental in the government unit achieving 
a Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting. A Certificate of Achievement is 
presented to those government units whose annual financial reports are judged to adhere to program 
standards and represents the highest award in government financial reporting.

Executive Director

Date: 7/18/2023

Finance Department
City of Dawsonville, Georgia



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:  PROCLAMATION: NATIONAL HEALTH CENTER WEEK, AUGUST 6 – 12, 2023 

 
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  08/07/2023   
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #        

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 

    
TO READ PROCLAMATION FOR NATIONAL HEALTH CENTER WEEK, AUGUST 6-12, 2023 
    
 
 

 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 
 

   
 

     OPTIONS: 
 
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
   
 
 

 
 

     REQUESTED BY: Mike Eason, Mayor 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #   9     
 

 

 



Proclamation 
 National Health Center Week 

August 6-12, 2023 
 

  
 

 
WHEREAS, for over 50 years, Community Health Centers have provided high-
quality, affordable, comprehensive primary and preventive health care in our 
nation’s underserved communities, delivering value to, and having a significant 
impact on America’s health care system.  
 
WHEREAS, as the country’s largest primary care network, Community Health 
Centers are the health care home for 30 million Americans in over 14,000 
communities across the nation. One in every twelve people in the United States gets 
their care in a Community Health Center. 
 
WHEREAS, Community Health Centers are a critical element of the health system, 
serving both rural and urban communities, and often providing the only accessible 
and dependable source of primary care in their communities. Nationwide, 
Community Health Centers serve one in every five residents of rural areas. 
 
WHEREAS, Community Health Centers serve as beacons of essential resources 
and support in testing and treatment in the face of the global coronavirus pandemic, 
and will continue to offer reliable, affordable, high-quality care against COVID-19 for 
America’s most vulnerable and underserved communities.  
 
WHEREAS, every day, Community Health Centers develop new approaches to 
integrating a wide range of services beyond primary care, including oral health, 
vision, behavioral health, and pharmacy services, to meet the needs and challenges 
of their communities.  
 
WHEREAS, Community Health Centers are governed by patient-majority boards, 
ensuring that the patients of each health center are engaged in their own health care 
decisions.  
 
WHEREAS, Community Health Centers are locally owned and operated small 
businesses that serve as critical economic engines, helping to power local economies 
by generating $63.4 billion in economic activity in some of the country’s most 
economically deprived communities. 
 
WHEREAS, Community Health Centers nationally employ more than 253,000 
people, including physicians, nurse practitioners, physician assistants, and certified 
nurse-midwives who work as part of multi-disciplinary clinical teams designed to 
treat the whole patient.  
 



WHEREAS, the Community Health Center model continues to prove an effective 
means of overcoming barriers to healthcare access, including geography, income, 
and insurance status - improving healthcare outcomes and reducing healthcare 
system costs.  
 
WHEREAS, Community Health Centers reduce overall costs of care by helping 
manage patients’ chronic conditions, which keeps them out of costlier healthcare 
settings like hospital emergency rooms. 
 
WHEREAS, Community Health Centers are on the front lines of emerging health 
care crises, providing access to care for our nation’s veterans, addressing the opioid 
epidemic, and responding to public health threats in the wake of natural disasters. 
 
WHEREAS, National Health Center Week offers the opportunity to celebrate 
America’s over 1,400 health center organizations with over 12,000 service delivery 
sites, their dedicated staff, board members, patients, and all those responsible for 
their continued success and growth since the first health centers opened their doors 
more than 50 years ago.  
 
WHEREAS, during National Health Center Week, we celebrate the legacy of 
America’s Community Health Centers, and their vital role in shaping the past, 
present, and future of America’s health care system. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, I, Mike Eason, Mayor of the City of Dawsonville, do hereby 
proclaim August 6-12, 2023 as National Health Center Week. I encourage all 
Americans to take part in this week by visiting their local Health Center and 
celebrating the important partnership between America’s Community Health 
Centers and the communities they serve. 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and caused the Seal of the 
City of Dawsonville to be affixed on this 7th day of August, 2023. 
 

 
 
 

__________________________ 
Mike Eason, Mayor 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_________________________ 
Beverly A. Banister, City Clerk    

 



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:   MILLAGE RATE FOR TAX YEAR 2023  

 
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  08/07/2023    
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #        

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    ___General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 
 

TO PRESENT THE MILLAGE RATE CERTIFICATION FOR TAX YEAR 2023 AND REQUEST APPROVAL 
TO ROLLBACK THE MILLAGE RATE TO ZERO AND NOT LEVY A TAX IN THE CITY FOR 2023    

 
 

 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 

   
 

     OPTIONS:   
 
 
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION:   
 
 APPROVE 
 

 
 

      
 
 
REQUESTED BY: Robin Gazaway, Finance Administrator______ 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #   10     
 

 

X 

 



 PT-38 (Rev 01/23)
 City Millage Rate Certification

ADDRESS CITY, STATE, ZIP

FEI # CITY CLERK PHONE NO. FAX EMAIL

58-1083885 706-265-3256 706-265-4214
OFFICE DAYS / HOURS

Mon-Fri 8-4:30

Exemption Amount

EXAMPLE: 7 mills (or .007) is shown as 7.000.  PLEASE SHOW MILLAGE FOR EACH TAXING JURISDICTION EVEN IF THERE IS NO LEVY.

CITY DISTRICTS DISTRICT NO. COLUMN 1 COLUMN 2 COLUMN 3 COLUMN 4 COLUMN 5
List Special Districts if different List District Gross Millage for **Less Rollback for Net Millage for Maintenance Bond Millage Total Millage

from City District below Numbers Maintenance & Local Option & Operation Purposes (If Applicable) Column 3 + Column 4
such as CID's, BID's, or DA's Operations Sales Tax (Column 1 less Column 2)

City Millage Rate 6.103 6.103 0.000
Independent School System 0.000
Special Districts 0.000

0.000
0.000
0.000

     Name of County(s) in which your city is located:   Dawson

    ___________________________________________
Date

CITY NAME

CITY AND INDEPENDENT SCHOOL MILLAGE RATE CERTIFICATION FOR TAX YEAR 2023
http://www.dor.ga.gov

Georgia Department of Revenue
Local Government Services Division

4125 Welcome All Road

ARE TAXES BILLED AND COLLECTED BY  THE (   ) CITY OR (   ) COUNTY TAX COMMISSIONER?  LIST VENDOR, CONTACT PERSON AND PHONE NO.

N/A

Exemption Amount QualificationsQualifications

CITY INDEPENDENT SCHOOL

Mayor or City Clerk

Complete this form once the levy is determined, report this information in Column 1.  E-mail a copy to local.government.services@dor.ga.gov or fax to (404)724-
7011 and distribute a copy to your County Tax Commissioner and Clerk of Court.  This form also provides the Local Government Services Division with the 
millage rates for the distribution of Railroad Equipment Tax and Alternative Ad Valorem Tax.  Form must be remitted even if levy is zero.

**Local Option Sales Tax Proceeds must be shown as a mill rate rollback if applicable to Independent School.

City of Dawsonville 415 Hwy 53E. Ste 100 Dawsonville, GA  30534

Beverly Banister beverly.banister@dawsonville-ga.gov

If City and School assessment is other than 40%, enter percentage millage is based on _______________%.  List below the millage rate in terms of mills.                         

List below the amount & qualifications for each LOCAL homestead exemption granted by the City and Independent School System.

I hereby certify that the rates listed above are the official rates for the Districts indicated for Tax Year 2023

Atlanta, Georgia 30349
Phone:  (404) 724-7003

http://www.dor.ga.gov/
http://www.dor.ga.gov/
http://www.dor.ga.gov/
http://www.dor.ga.gov/
http://www.dor.ga.gov/
http://www.dor.ga.gov/
mailto:beverly.banister@dawsonville-ga.gov
http://www.dor.ga.gov/
mailto:beverly.banister@dawsonville-ga.gov


 2023 Millage Rate Calculations

City Mill Rate

Rollback 

$1,491,044.14 ÷ 244,332,560 6.102519 0

Jan-22

Feb-22

Mar-22

Apr-22

May-22

Jun-22

Jul-22

Aug-22

Sep-22

Oct-22

Nov-22

Dec-22

 

Complete Form PT-38

$1,491,044.14

Roll Back Millage Rate –                                                                
No City Tax in FY 2023-24 Budget: 

Mayor Eason requested to roll back the 
millage rate and not levy a tax in the City in 

FY 2023-24. 

125,982.37

112,995.01

114,331.61

116,728.66

138,620.96

155,555.04

109,312.67

107,417.80

125,701.61

128,443.49

133,780.16

122,174.76

2022 L.O.S.T. Distribution

2022 LOST Proceeds divided by Net Digest                      
(Net Taxable/County)

equals millage 
rate for Tax 
Year 2023

times 
1000

x

O:\2 WORKING FOLDERS\FINANCIALS\MILLAGE RATE\2023\Millage Rate Calculator 2023.xls



bbanister
Highlight



                                                                             
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 City of Dawsonville City Council 

 

  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

   
Mike Eason, Mayor   

Caleb Phillips, Councilmember Post 1 415 Highway 53 East, Suite 100 Bob Bolz, City Manager 
William Illg,    Councilmember Post 2 Dawsonville, GA  30534 Beverly Banister, City Clerk 
John Walden,  Councilmember Post 3 Office (706) 265-3256       Fax (706) 265-4214   
Mark French,  Councilmember Post 4 www.dawsonville-ga.gov            

 
 
                                                                  

PUBLIC NOTICE 
 
The City of Dawsonville City Council does hereby announce that the millage rate will be set at the regularly 
scheduled City Council meeting to be held at City Hall located at 415 Hwy 53 E, Dawsonville, Georgia on August 7, 
2023 at 5:00 p.m. The public is invited to attend. Pursuant to the requirements of O.C.G.A.§48-5-32, the City does 
hereby publish the current year’s tax digest and proposed levy, along with the history of the tax digest and levy for 
the preceding five calendar years. 
 

CURRENT 2023 TAX DIGEST AND FIVE YEAR HISTORY OF LEVY 
  2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 

Net M&O Digest       
104,572,111 

    
113,927,543  

  
 128,617,983  

 
145,987,618 

 
176,378,470 

 
244,332,560 

Gross Millage for M&O 8.962 9.01 8.511 8.021 8.304 6.103 
Gross Tax Due  $         896.20   $         901.00   $         851.10   $       802.10   $        830.40  $       610.30 
Less Rollback  8.962 9.01 8.511 8.021 8.304 6.103 

Net Millage for M&O 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Net Tax Due  $                -     $                -     $                -     $              -     $               -     $              -    

Impact on a $250,000 home/Taxable Value (40%) = $100,000 
Note: The millage rate has been rolled back to 0.000 for each year presented 

  

http://www.dawsonville-ga.gov/


                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:   ORDINANCE NO. 07-2023: ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGES AMENDMENT 
 
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  08/07/2023  
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #        

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST:   FIRST READING 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 07-2023:  AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGE ORDINANCES OF 
THE CITY OF DAWSONVILLE, GEORGIA; TO PROVIDE FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE, AND FOR OTHER 
PURPOSES 

 
FIRST READING: AUGUST 7, 2023; SECOND READING AND CONSIDERATION TO ADOPT: AUGUST 21, 
2023 
 
    
 
 

 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 
 
 
 

   
 

     OPTIONS: 
 
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
   
 
 

 
 

     REQUESTED BY: Kevin Tallant, City Attorney 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #   11     
 

 

 



 

Page 1 of 5 
 

 
 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 07-2023 
 
AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGE ORDINANCES OF THE 
CITY OF DAWSONVILLE, GEORGIA; TO PROVIDE FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE, AND 
FOR OTHER PURPOSES 

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to Article IX, Section II, Paragraph II of the Constitution of the State of 
Georgia and Chapter 35 of Title 36 of the Official Code of Georgia, the City Council of 
Dawsonville is empowered to adopt reasonable ordinances for local government upon matters not 
governed by general law and which are not inconsistent with the Constitution of the State of 
Georgia or the Charter of the City of Dawsonville; and  
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to Article I of Chapter 3 of Title 3 of the Official Code of Georgia Annotated, 
specific authority is given to the local governments of this State to regulate the sale of alcoholic 
beverages in ways not inconsistent with State Law; 
 
AND WHEREAS, the City Council has determined it is in the interests of public health, safety, 
morals, convenience, order, prosperity, and general welfare of the City of Dawsonville to update 
and clarify certain provisions of the City’s Alcoholic Beverage Ordinance;  
 
NOW THEREFORE, the governing body of the City of Dawsonville, Georgia, does hereby amend 
its Alcoholic Beverage Ordinance as follows:   
 
SECTION I: Brewery with taproom and package sales license. 
 
Chapter 3 Alcoholic Beverages, Article I In General, Division 2 Licenses and Permits Offered; 
Regulations for Certain Licenses and Permit, Section 3-14 Brewery with taproom and package 
sales license of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Dawsonville is hereby amended by deleting 
Section 3-14 in its entirety and inserting in lieu thereof the following: 
 

§ Sec. 3-14 Brewery with taproom and package sales license. 
 
(a) Any person, business, or entity desiring to operate a brewery with taproom and 
package sales within the city shall apply for a brewery with taproom and package 
sales license prior to engaging in such activities. 
 
(b) Unless otherwise provided in this chapter, a brewery licensee engaging in any 
manufacturing, wholesale, distribution, retail on-premises consumption sales, 
and/or retail package sales authorized by a brewery with taproom and package sales 
license shall comply all regulations of the applicable general manufacturing, 
wholesale dealer, retail consumption dealer, and/or retail package dealer licenses 
provided for in this article. 
 
(c) A brewery licensee is authorized to manufacture beer or malt beverages on its 
licensed premises and sell its products, produced or manufactured by the licensee 

Subject Matter: Alcoholic Beverages  
Date of First Reading: August 7, 2023 
Date of Second Reading: August 21, 2023 
Date of Adoption:  
 



 

Page 2 of 5 
 

on the licensed premises, to wholesale dealers and/or distributors or at retail to 
individuals on the brewery's licensed premises for: 
 

(1) On-premises consumption in a taproom or similar facility located on the 
licensed premises; and 

 
(2) Off-premises consumption in closed packages, in compliance with 
O.C.G.A. 3-5-1 et seq., as now written or hereafter amended. 

 
(d) Food sales or service is permitted in a brewery but is not required. There is no 
requirement for minimum revenue for food sales or for an on-premises fixed or full-
service kitchen. 
 
(e) A brewery licensee is authorized to sell beer or malt beverages, as produced 
and/or manufactured by the licensee on the licensed premises, at retail for on-
premises consumption Monday through Saturday between the hours of 11:00 a.m. 
and 11:30 p.m., and Sunday between the hours of 12:30 p.m. and 11:30 p.m., along 
with federal holidays from 12:30 p.m. until 11:30 p.m. In addition, upon application 
and approval by the city manager, a licensee may be authorized to sell beer or malt 
beverages, as produced and/or manufactured by the licensee on the licensed 
premises, at retail for on-premises consumption on other dates for special events, 
pursuant to a temporary on-premises consumption permit. 
 
(f) Smoking of any type, including cigarettes, cigars, vaping, or similar, is 
prohibited within the premises of a brewery, including any exterior patio or similar. 
 
(g) No gaming devices, including coin-operated amusement machines, as defined 
and regulated by the state law are permitted in breweries. 

 
SECTION II: Winery/farm winery with tasting room and package sales license. 
 
Chapter 3 Alcoholic Beverages, Article I In General, Division 2 Licenses and Permits Offered; 
Regulations for Certain Licenses and Permit, Section 3-15 Winery/farm winery with tasting room 
and package sales license of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Dawsonville is hereby amended 
by deleting Section 3-15 in its entirety and inserting in lieu thereof the following: 
 

§ Sec. 3-15 Winery/farm winery with tasting room and package sales license. 
 
(a) Any person, business, or entity desiring to operate a winery/farm winery with 
tasting room and package sales within the city shall apply for a winery/farm winery 
with tasting room and package sales license prior to engaging in such activities. 
 
(b) Unless otherwise provided in this chapter, a winery/farm winery licensee 
engaging in any manufacturing, wholesale, distribution, retail on-premises 
consumption sales, and/or retail package sales authorized by a winery/farm winery 
with tasting room and package sales license shall comply all regulations of the 



 

Page 3 of 5 
 

applicable general manufacturing, wholesale dealer, retail consumption dealer, 
and/or retail package dealer licenses provided for in this article. 
 
(c) A winery/farm winery licensee is authorized to manufacture wine and/or mead 
on its licensed premises and sell its products, produced or manufactured by the 
licensee on the licensed premises, to wholesale dealers and/or distributors or at 
retail in closed packages for off-premises consumption directly to consumers, in 
compliance with state law. 
 
(d) A winery/farm winery licensee is authorized to offer, for free, samples of its 
products, as produced and/or manufactured by the licensee on the licensed 
premises, to customers as a promotion for package sales. Samples shall be limited 
to one-ounce pours and shall be limited to no more than eight pours per customer, 
per day. Samples shall only be offered during normal business and/or operating 
hours of the licensee during which the sale of alcoholic beverages is permitted. 
 
(e) A winery/farm winery licensee is authorized to sell wine and/or mead, as 
produced and/or manufactured by the licensee on the licensed premises, at retail for 
on-premises consumption on Monday through Saturday between the hours of 11:00 
a.m. and 11:30 p.m., and Sunday between the hours of 12:30 p.m. and 11:30 p.m., 
along with federal holidays from 12:30 p.m. until 11:30 p.m. In addition, upon 
application and approval by the city manager, a winery/farm winery licensee may 
be authorized to sell wine and/or mead, as produced and/or manufactured by the 
licensee on the licensed premises, at retail for on-premises consumption on other 
dates for special events, pursuant to a temporary on-premises consumption permit. 
 
(f) Smoking of any type, including cigarettes, cigars, vaping, or similar, is 
prohibited within the premises of a distillery, including any exterior patio or similar. 
 
(g) No gaming devices, including coin-operated amusement machines, as defined 
and regulated by the state law are permitted in distilleries. 

 
SECTION III: Distillery with cocktail room and package sales license. 
 
Chapter 3 Alcoholic Beverages, Article I In General, Division 2 Licenses and Permits Offered; 
Regulations for Certain Licenses and Permit, Section 3-16 Distillery with cocktail room and 
package sales license of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Dawsonville is hereby amended by 
deleting Section 3-16 in its entirety and inserting in lieu thereof the following: 
 

§ Sec. 3-16 Distillery with cocktail room and package sales license. 
 
(a) Any person, business, or entity desiring to operate a distillery with cocktail room 
and package sales within the city shall apply for a distillery with cocktail room and 
package sales license prior to engaging in such activities. 
(b) Unless otherwise provided in this chapter, a distillery licensee engaging in any 
manufacturing, wholesale, distribution, retail on-premises consumption sales, 
and/or retail package sales authorized by a distillery with cocktail room and 



 

Page 4 of 5 
 

package sales license shall comply all regulations of the applicable general 
manufacturing, wholesale dealer, retail consumption dealer, and/or retail package 
dealer licenses provided for in this article. 
 
(c) A distillery licensee is authorized to manufacture distilled spirits on its licensed 
premises and sell its products, produced or manufactured by the licensee on the 
licensed premises, to wholesale dealers and/or distributors or at retail in closed 
packages for off-premises consumption directly to consumers, in compliance with 
state law. 
 
(d) A distillery licensee is authorized to offer, for free, samples of its products, as 
produced and/or manufactured by the licensee on the licensed premises, to 
customers as a promotion for package sales. Samples shall be limited to one-half 
ounce pours and shall be limited to no more than five pours per customer, per day. 
Samples shall only be offered during normal business and/or operating hours of the 
licensee during which the sale of alcoholic beverages is permitted. 
 
(e) A distillery licensee is authorized to sell distilled spirits, as produced and/or 
manufactured by the licensee on the licensed premises, at retail for on-premises 
consumption on Monday through Saturday between the hours of 11:00 a.m. and 
11:30 p.m., and Sunday between the hours of 12:30 p.m. and 11:30 p.m, along with 
federal holidays from 12:30 p.m. until 11:30 p.m. In addition, upon application and 
approval by the mayor and city council, a distillery with cocktail room licensee may 
be authorized to sell distilled, as produced and/or manufactured by the licensee on 
the licensed premises, at retail for on-premises consumption on other dates for 
special events, pursuant to a temporary on-premises consumption permit. 
 
(f) Smoking of any type, including cigarettes, cigars, vaping, or similar, is 
prohibited within the premises of a distillery, including any exterior patio or similar. 
 
(g) No gaming devices, including coin-operated amusement machines, as defined 
and regulated by the state law are permitted in distilleries. 

 
SECTION IV: Incorporation and Repealer  
 
Except as modified herein, the remainder of the Alcoholic Beverage Ordinance of the City of 
Dawsonville is affirmed and incorporated herein. All laws and parts of law in conflict with this 
enactment are hereby repealed.  
 
SECTION V: Effective Date  
 
This ordinance shall be effective the day following its passage by the City Council of Dawsonville.  
 
  
  

[EXECUTION ON FOLLOWING  PAGE]  



 

Page 5 of 5 
 

SO ADOPTED AND ORDAINED by the City Council of Dawsonville, Georgia, this _____ day 
of _______________________, 2023.  
 
  

MAYOR AND DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
 
 
 

By:        
       Mike Eason, Mayor 
 

 
       
Caleb Phillips, Council Member Post #1 

 
             
              
       William Illg, Council Member Post #2 
 
             
              
       John Walden, Council Member Post #3 
 
 
       ____________________________________
       Mark French, Council Member Post #4 
              

ATTESTED TO BY: 

 

___________________________ 
Beverly A. Banister, City Clerk 
 

 

        

 

 
 
 



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:   AMENDMENT TO IGA FOR LAW ENFORCEMENT TO INCREASE 

COMPENSATION 
 

     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  08/07/2023  
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #        

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 

    
TO REQUEST APPROVAL TO AMEND THE IGA FOR LAW ENFORCEMENT TO INCLUDE AN 

ADDITIONAL $1.00 PER HOUR, PER DEPUTY.    
 

DAWSON COUNTY SHERIFF’S OFFICE REQUESTED A PAY INCREASE FOR THE CITY 
DEPUTIES 

    
 
 

 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 

• ORIGINAL AGREEMENT EXECUTED ON 06/07/2021 (SEE ATTACHED) 
• INCLUDING TAXES, COST WILL BE APPROXIMATELY AN ADDITIONAL $4,651.92 PER 

YEAR 
• IF APPROVED, AMENDMENT WILL NEED TO BE DEVELOPED BY THE CITY ATTORNEY  

 

   
 

     OPTIONS: 
 
APPROVE, DENY, TABLE 
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
   
IF APPROVED, INCLUDE IN MOTION “PENDING AMENDED AGREEMENT” 
 
 

 
 

     REQUESTED BY: Mike Eason, Mayor 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #   12     
 

 

 















                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:   ITEMS LAID ON TABLE INDEFINITELY 
 
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  08/07/2023   
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #        

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 

   TO CONSIDER PLACING ITEMS LAID ON THE TABLE INDEFINITELY TO A FUTURE AGENDA 
    
 
 

 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 

1. ANX-C2100043 and ZA-C2100043: Allen Street Properties, LLC and B & K Turner Family, LLP have 
petitioned to annex into the city limits of Dawsonville tract 2 with 32.937 acres (amended application) 
tract known as a portion of TMP 093 004 001, located at Perimeter Road, with a request to rezone from 
County Zoning of RSR (Residential Sub Rural) and RA (Restricted Agriculture) to City Zoning of R3 
(Single Family Residential). Public Hearing Dates: Planning Commission on September 13, 2021 and 
City Council on October 4, 2021. City Council for a decision on October 18, 2021 – Tabled indefinitely 
on 04/18/2022 

2. ANX-C2200170: B&K Turner Family, LLP has petitioned to annex into the city limits of Dawsonville the 
35.31 acre tract known as TMP 083 025, Located at Land Lot 584, 4th District, Section 1, with a County 
Zoning of RA (Residential Agricultural/Residential Exurban) to City Zoning AP (Annexed Property 
District).  Public Hearing Dates:  Planning Commission on June 13, 2022, and City Council on June 20, 
2022.  City Council for a decision on July 18, 2022. – Tabled indefinitely on 07/18/2022 

 

   
 

     OPTIONS: 
 
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
   
 
 

 
 

     REQUESTED BY: Mike Eason, Mayor 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #   13     
 

 

 


	1. 08.07.2023 AGENDA City Council Regular Meeting and Work Session
	7. Executive Summary For Agenda Items CONSENT AGENDA
	7a. 1 Executive Summary For Agenda Items MINUTES
	7a. 2. 07.17.2023 MINUTES City Council Regular Meeting and Work Session.DRAFT
	7b. 1. Executive Summary For Agenda Items PUBLIX SETTLEMENT
	7b. 2. Publix - Final Confidential Agreement
	7c. 1. Executive Summary For Agenda Items MARK III CONTRACT
	7c. 2. MARK III Revised Contract - City of Dawsonville_
	At the renewal meeting, we will compare our estimates against the carrier/vendor’s using the following criteria:
	At the renewal meeting, we will compare our estimates against the carrier/vendor’s using the following criteria:

	7d. 1. Executive Summary For Agenda Items BB COURT AMENDMENT
	7d. 2. Amended_Signature Tennis Courts BB Court BID 2023-04
	7e. 1. Executive Summary For Agenda Items KIWANIS
	7e. 2. KIWANIS ROOM RENTAL
	8. 1 Executive Summary For Agenda Items CAFR
	8. 2. 06.30.2022 FY ENDED_Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting
	Announcement of Award.pdf
	Press Release.pdf
	5 - Certificate.pdf
	AFRA Finance Department.pdf

	9. 1. Executive Summary For Agenda Items PROCLAMATION
	9. 2. Proclamation National Health Center 2023
	10. 1 Executive Summary For MILLAGE RATE
	10. 2. 2023_PT-38_City_and_Independent_School_Millage_Rate_Certification
	PT-38

	10. 3. Millage Rate Calculator 2023
	2023

	10. 4. Pages from Dawson County - 2023 Finial Digest Numbers - Dawsonville
	10. 5. Public Notice - Millage Rate 2023
	11. 1. Executive Summary For Agenda Items ALC BEV
	11. 2. 07-2023 Alcoholic Beverage Ordinance Amendment
	12. 1. Executive Summary For Agenda Items LAW ENFORCEMENT
	12. 2. 06.01.2021 IGA_Law Enforcement w. DCSO & DCBOC
	13. 1. Executive Summary For Agenda Items ITEMS TABLED INDEF



